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Seth Watkins

From: Seth Watkins
Sent: Monday, October 16, 2017 2:06 PM
To: 'EDFOIAManager@ed.gov'
Subject: FOIA and Privacy Act Request (expedited processing; fee waiver) re Filipino Veterans Equity 

Compensation
Attachments: Authorizations to release information executed by Celestino Almeda.pdf; Exhibit 1.pdf

By Email and Facsimile (202-401-0920) 
 
U.S. Department of Education 
Office of Management 
Office of the Chief Privacy Officer 
400 Maryland Avenue, SW, LBJ 2E320 
Washington, DC 20202-4536 
 
To whom it may concern: 
 
This is a request under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552, and the 
Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a, on behalf of a client, Mr. Celestino G. Almeda, who is a one 
hundred (100) year old WWII veteran.  Expedited processing is hereby requested. 
 
Copies of Form DOJ-361 “Certification of Identity” executed by Mr. Almeda on October 15, 
2017 as well as a further Consent to Release Information executed by Mr. Almeda on July 5, 
2017 are attached, authorizing the release of information related to Mr. Almeda to the 
undersigned attorney. 
 
1.  The following records are hereby requested under the Privacy Act, preferably sent to 
requester by email in electronic format (pdf): 
 

all Records in the possession, custody, or control of the Department of Education 
and/or the White House Initiative on Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders 
(WHIAAPI) that relate to a claim by Celestino G. Almeda to the Filipino Veterans 
Equity Compensation Fund (FVEC or FVECF), including but not limited to all such 
Records in any way mentioning, describing, reporting, or discussing the review of that 
claim by WHIAAPI and/or the Filipino Veterans Equity Compensation Fund (FVEC 
or FVECF) Interagency Working Group (IWG). 

 
On information and belief, in 2012, the names of certain individuals whose FVEC claims had 
been denied were brought to the attention of WHIAAPI.  On information and belief, in early 
January 2013, WHIAAPI provided Celestino G. Almeda’s name and certain supporting 
documentation to the National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) as part of a 
small sample and/or pilot project aimed at identifying flaws in the FVEC claims review 
process.  On information and belief, NARA provided feedback concerning its review and 
negative determination (verification) concerning Celestino G. Almeda’s service (as 
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undertaken in connection with his FVEC claim), to WHIAAPI and that information was 
conveyed, described, reported, reviewed, and/or discussed with and/or by the FVEC IWG 
and/or Chris Lu, who was the Assistant to the President and Cabinet Secretary and also Co-
Chair of WHIAAPI.  On information and belief, WHIAAPI and the FVEC IWG considered 
issues with respect to the denial of FVEC claims during 2012-13. 
 
2.  The following records are hereby requested under FOIA, preferably sent to requester by 
email in electronic format (pdf): 
 

all Records in the possession, custody, or control of the Department of Education 
and/or the White House Initiative on Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders that 
concern, relate to, or reflect: 
 

(a) communications, including but not limited to substantive comments, concerns, 
and/or edits to drafts and/or approvals on agency letterhead (e.g., by VA), 
concerning the blog post placed online on or about July 9, 2013 at 
http://www.whitehouse.gov/blog/2013/07/09/recognizing-extraordinary-
contribution-filipino-veterans (now available at 
https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2013/07/09/recognizing-
extraordinary-contribution-filipino-veterans), as referenced for example in 
attached Exhibit 1 (email chain from 06/13/2013-07/09/2013 re Filipino Vets 
Blog Post and Report (yellow highlighting added); 
 
(b) any sampling or pilot group of denied FVEC claimants (including but not 
limited to Celestino G. Almeda), considered by WHIAAPI, the FVEC IWG, the 
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), and/or NARA during 2012-13; 
 
(c) communications involving WHIAAPI during 2012-13 with any individual at the 
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) concerning FVEC; 
 
(d) the meeting between VA Secretary Shinseki and WHIAAPI on or about May 
10, 2013 concerning FVEC; and 
 
(e) the names of the individuals who attended each meeting of the FVEC IWG, 
whether such meeting occurred in person, telephonically, or otherwise. 

 
It is believed that the most relevant time frame of requested Records is 2012-13. 
 
It is believed that the following individuals at the Department of Education may provide 
information helpful to the Department’s FOIA officials in identifying relevant Records: Diana 
Yu (Diana.yu@ed.gov); Akil Vohra (akil.vohra@ed.gov); and/or Rebecca Lee 
(rebecca.lee@ed.gov).  It is believed that the following email accounts of individuals 
previously at the Department of Education / WHIAAPI also may contain relevant information: 
Jude R. Soundar (jude.soundar@ed.gov); Jason Tengco (Jason.Tengco@ed.gov); Phillip 
Olaya (Phillip.Olaya@edu.gov); Audrey Buehring; and Chris Lu. 
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As used herein, the term “Records” includes but is not limited to communications (whether 
electronic or otherwise), attachments thereto, meeting minutes of the IWG, memoranda 
involving the IWG, reports of the IWG, and instructions of the IWG. 
 
For reference, information about the White House Initiative on Asian Americans and 
Pacific Islanders can be found at https://sites.ed.gov/aapi/staff/.  Information about the 
FVECF IWG can be found for example at 
https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2013/07/09/recognizing-extraordinary-
contribution-filipino-veterans. 
 
Expedited Processing is hereby requested.  Mr. Celestino G. Almeda, is involved in legal 
proceedings concerning the Filipino Veterans Equity Compensation Fund (the subject matter 
of the IWG) in which he has an urgent need for the requested Records.  The following are 
circumstances that “demonstrate a compelling need for expedited processing” pursuant to 34 
C.F.R. § 5.21(i)(2)(i)(C): 
 
(1)  Reasonable expectation of an imminent loss of a substantial due process right:  
Requester, Mr. Almeda, is one hundred (100) years old and has been denied eligibility to 
receive a one-time payment from the Filipino Veterans Equity Compensation Fund (“FVECF”). 
His appeal, pending at the U.S. Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims (“CAVC”), will in part 
argue that the denial of the FVECF benefit to him violates the equal protection component of 
the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment.  In particular, by failing to accept the official 
documents that Mr. Almeda submitted to VA to demonstrate entitlement to the FVEC benefit, 
some of which NARA found in the government’s records—particularly Almeda’s PA AGO 
Form 23 Affidavit—the VA is intentionally, and unconstitutionally, discriminating against an 
individual of Filipino national origin by disregarding his records issued by a service 
department.  Failure to grant expedited processing poses a risk to Mr. Almeda’s ability to 
argue these points as part of his appeal that he has been denied due process under the Fifth 
Amendment to the Constitution. 
 
(2)  Matter of widespread and exceptional media interest in which there exist possible 
questions that affect public confidence in the Government's integrity:  The dispute about 
how the government determines eligibility for the FVECF benefit has been widely covered by 
media including with respect to Mr. Alemda.  See, e.g., Ben de Guzman, “Filipino WWII 
Veterans Immigration and Recognition: Connected Movements,” THE HUFFINGTON POST (May 
13, 2016) (“The discrimination Filipino WWII veterans have faced as unrecognized U.S. 
veterans has lasted for more than seventy years . . .”; “inequity and struggles still exist as 
work continues to try and fix the eligibility process and ensure everyone who served [receives] 
benefits”), available at http://www.huffingtonpost.com/ben-de-guzman/filipino-wwii-veterans-
im b 9937400.html; Emil Guillermo, “99-Year-Old WWII Veteran Seeks Response Over 
Denied Benefits,” NBC NEWS (May 31, 2016) (describing “a Filipino World War II veteran who 
is still seeking recognition and equity pay”), available at http://www.nbcnews.com/news/asian-
america/99-year-old-wwii-veteran-seeks-response-over-denied-benefits-n582126; Beth 
Garbitelli, “Some Filipino Vets Still Awaiting Recognition,” PBS (July 31, 2012), available at 
http://www.pbs.org/newshour/rundown/some-filipino-vets-still-awaiting-recognition/; Emil 
Guillermo, “Filipino WWII veterans fight never-ending battle for equity,” INQUIRER.NET (Nov. 
12, 2015).  In fact, the government’s narrow interpretation of eligibility for compensation from 
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the FVECF was the subject of two 2014 hearings in Congress.  See Filipino Veterans Equity 
Compensation Fund: Examining the Department of Defense and Interagency Process for 
Verifying Eligibility, Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations of the 
Committee on Armed Services, House of Representatives (June 24, 2014), available at 
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CHRG-113hhrg89507/pdf/CHRG-113hhrg89507.pdf; Filipino 
Veterans Equity Compensation Fund: Inquiry into the Adequacy of Process in Verifying 
Eligibility, Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Disability Assistance and Memorial Affairs of 
the Committee on Veterans’ Affairs, House of Representatives (Nov. 20, 2014), available at 
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CHRG-113hhrg96136/pdf/CHRG-113hhrg96136.pdf.  It also 
was the focus of the Interagency Working Group (IWG) (referenced in the above FOIA 
request) convened by the White House from 2012-13 because “many Filipino veterans . . . 
believe[d] their claims were improperly denied.”  See 
https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2012/10/17/honoring-filipino-world-war-ii-
veterans-their-service (Oct. 17, 2012); https://obamawhitehouse.archives.
gov/blog/2013/07/09/recognizing-extraordinary-contribution-filipino-veterans (July 9, 2013); 
https://sites.ed.gov/aapi/filipino-world-war-ii-veterans/.  The government’s negative FVEC 
eligibility determinations clearly have raised possible questions about the government's 
integrity which effect public confidence, particularly with respect to discrimination against 
Filipinos, which affects public confidence in the administration of benefits. 
 
Requester hereby requests a waiver of fees pursuant to 34 C.F.R. § 5.33(a).  The subject of 
this request specifically concerns identifiable operations or activities of the government 
(WHIAAPI, the FVEC IWG, and denials of the FVEC benefit).  The disclosable portions of the 
requested information will be meaningfully informative in relation to that subject matter as they 
directly concern it.  Furthermore, disclosure of the requested information likely will contribute 
to public understanding of government operations, i.e., the understanding of the public at 
large, because requester may rely on that information in making legal arguments in public 
briefs filed at CAVC and requester commits to share the disclosed information with one or 
more entities that represent other interested Filipino veterans including but not limited to the 
advocacy organization the American Coalition for Filipino Veterans (“ACFV”).  In addition, 
disclosure of the requested information will significantly contribute to public understanding of 
government operations or activities, because there is little publicly available information about 
the work of WHIAAPI and the FVEC IWG with respect to denials of the FVEC benefit, yet 
there have been many thousands of denials.  Finally, the information sought by the request is 
not primarily in Requester’s commercial interest. 
 
The above statements are certified to be true and correct to the best of the undersigned’s 
knowledge and belief, including with respect to the truth of the circumstances alleged and/or 
other evidence of the requester’s compelling need. 
 
We hereby consent to pay all costs incurred for search, duplication and review of materials up 
to $250.00.  If additional costs will be required, please contact me for my approval. 
  
If you have any questions about this request, please contact me immediately by the means 
listed below. 
  
Thank you for your assistance with this matter. 
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Sincerely, 
/s/ 
Seth A. Watkins 
 
Seth A. Watkins, Ph.D. 
WATKINS LAW & ADVOCACY, PLLC 
1455 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20004 
Tel. (202) 355-9421 
Fax (202) 355-9424 
Email watkins@wlapllc.com 
www.wlapllc.com 
 
The information contained in this e-mail message may be privileged, confidential and protected from 
disclosure.  If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, distribution or copying is strictly 
prohibited.  If you think that you have received this email message in error, please email the sender at 
“watkins@wlapllc.com.”  Thank you. 
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Reyes -- NARA 0152
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AUTHORIZATIONS TO RELEASE INFORMATION 
EXECUTED BY CELESTINO ALMEDA 
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